

Call to Order

The meeting was called to order at 7:30 p.m.

Roll call was answered by Commissioners Siakel, Walker, Murphy, Bolton, Dixon, and Chairman Esposito. Commissioner Swanlund was absent.

Also present were Director of Community Development John Svalenka, Trustee Bill Dustin, and Recording Secretary Laura Carpenter.

Approval of Meeting Minutes

Motion to accept the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting minutes from February 12, 2024 was made by Commissioner Siakel and seconded by Commissioner Walker. The motion was approved by a voice vote of 6-0.

New Business

Conditional Use for a Drive Through and Variations for Consumers Credit Union at 2450 W Algonquin Road

Chairman Esposito asked for a motion to open the public hearing. Commissioner Siakel made a motion to open the public hearing, and Commissioner Walker seconded. On a voice vote, the entire commission voted Aye, no Nays. Chairman Esposito opened the public hearing at 7:31 p.m. and confirmed with staff that the public was given proper notice.

Director Svalenka reviewed the Request for Public Hearing and Commission Action dated April 15, 2024.

The subject property on the northeast corner of Randall Road and Algonquin Road at 2450 W Algonquin Road is within the B-3 General Business zoning district. The property includes an existing 4,570 square-foot building with a 1,730 square-foot drive-through canopy that was constructed in 2004 and originally occupied by Bank of America. The building has been vacant and unoccupied since 2014. From 2019 to 2021 the McHenry County Division of Transportation reconstructed and widened Randall Road adjacent to the subject property, and the County acquired portions of the property along the western and southern lot lines for right-of-way purposes. As part of a court case to determine the just compensation for the right-of-way, McHenry County became owner of the whole property in May of 2023. As the County has no planned use for the subject property, the property has been made available for sale. Early in 2024 McHenry County entered into a contract to sell the property to Consumers Credit Union, an Illinois Charted Credit Union that has served the north and northwest suburbs of Chicago since 1930.

Consumers Credit Union (CCU) is now proposing to renovate and occupy the existing building as a new retail banking location, which is a permitted use in the B-3 zoning district. CCU is also proposing to remove the existing 1,730 square-foot drive-through canopy and associated site improvements, and construct a new 545 square-foot drive-through canopy in a new location with re-configured drive-through lanes. Per Section 24.9 of the Zoning Code, whenever any conditional use has been discontinued for a period of one year, such use shall not be reestablished without a public



hearing as provided for the establishment of conditional uses. Therefore, CCU has applied for approval of a conditional use permit to reestablish the drive-through use and reconfigure the drive-through canopy and lanes

Prior to development of the Bank of America building in 2004, the subject property was used as an Amoco gas station. Due to the potential for environmental contamination from underground fuel storage tanks used by the gas station, the recorded deed selling the property included restrictive covenants stipulating strict requirements to protect the public from potential hazardous material contamination. Among other requirements, the covenants require all portions of the property to be covered with an engineered barrier consisting of a concrete or asphalt surface at all times. Even though the property included significant code-compliant landscaped areas while the property was used by Bank of America for ten years, and even though the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency issued a "No Further Remediation Letter" on July 22, 2008 indicating that no further corrective actions are required on the property for the protection of human health and safety, the restrictive covenants from the deed remain in full force and effect indefinitely unless waived in writing by the parent company of Amoco Oil Company. Therefore, out of an abundance of caution, the applicant has proposed extending the existing pavement areas up to the edge of the existing property lines with no setback and no perimeter landscaping to create a full barrier in compliance with the deed restrictions.

The applicant has requested several zoning variations, as detailed below.

- A variation from Section 18.6-2 of the Zoning Code to allow parking spaces to be located within the required front yard along Algonquin Road, with the parking setback reduced from two feet to zero feet;
- A variation from Section 18.6-2 of the Zoning Code to allow parking spaces to be located within the required front yard along Randall Road, with the parking setback reduced from four feet to zero feet;
- A variation from Section 26.4-2 and Table 26.5 of the Zoning Code to reduce the perimeter landscaping yard along Algonquin Road from two feet to zero feet and to eliminate all required landscape plantings within the vard:
- A variation from Section 26.4-2 and Table 26.5 of the Zoning Code to reduce the perimeter landscaping yard along Randall Road from four feet to zero feet and to eliminate all required landscape plantings within the yard; and,
- Variations from Section 26.4-6 and Table 26.6 of the Zoning Code to eliminate all required landscape plantings
 within the rear perimeter landscaping yard along the north property line and within the side perimeter
 landscaping yard along the east property line.

Director Svalenka noted that staff has reviewed the requests, and recommends that any approval be subject to compliance with the following conditions:

- 1. The applicant must obtain a permanent easement from the owner of the adjacent property to the east with the PIN 19-29-151-032 to allow construction of the new entrance driveway shown on the submitted plans and to allow access to the driveway by the public.
- 2. Final engineering details must be submitted to the Village and shall be subject to final approval by the Village Engineer.
- 3. The building must include decorative exterior elevations consisting of a minimum of 75 percent brick, stone, or other masonry material in compliance with Section 24.16 of the Municipal Code.



4. The two diagonal striped areas shown on the plans along the western lot line must be landscaped in the future in compliance with Section 26.4-2 and Table 26.5 of the Zoning Code if the restrictive covenants requiring an engineered barrier are ever formally waived in writing.

5. Live plantings must be maintained in the raised planters shown in the three parking lot landscape islands on the plans to meet the intent of the requirements in Section 26.10-3 of the Zoning Code and subject to review and approval by the Director of Community Development per Section 26.14 of the Zoning Code

Director Svalenka recommended approval of the conditional use and variations for Consumers Credit Union at 2450 West Algonquin Road, with the five conditions, per the findings noted in the staff report dated April 15, 2024.

The applicant, Scott Hezner of the Hezner Corporation spoke at the podium. He presented to the Commission the renderings, reviewed the drive-through traffic pattern design, and reviewed the exterior building and sign materials.

Commission members inquired about the number of planned employees for the credit union, other Consumer Credit Union locations, construction timeline, and stormwater concerns. Mr. Hezner clarified that there is a plan for four credit union employees at the Lake in the Hills location. Other nearby Consumer Credit Union locations are in Volo, Streamwood, and Schaumburg. He also indicated that stormwater management would not be needed, per his engineer. Construction would start after the easement could be secured in order to create the new property entrance. Mr. Hezner also clarified the planned traffic flow.

There being no further public comments or discussion, Chairman Esposito asked for a motion to close the public hearing. Commissioner Dixon made a motion to close the public hearing, and Commissioner Bolton seconded. On a voice vote, the entire commission voted Aye, no Nays. Chairman Esposito closed the public hearing at 7:53 p.m.

Commissioner Bolton made a motion to recommend approval of the requested Conditional Use Permit for a drive-through; variations from Section 18.6-2 of the Zoning Code to allow parking spaces to be located within required front yards along Algonquin Road and Randall Road with a setback of zero feet; variations from Section 26.4-2 and Table 26.5 of the Zoning Code to reduce the perimeter landscaping yards along Algonquin Road and Randall Road to zero feet and eliminate all required landscape plantings within the yards; and variations from Section 26.4-6 and Table 26.6 of the Zoning Code to eliminate all required landscape plantings within the perimeter landscaping yards along the north and east property lines, all to allow for the development of a Consumers Credit Union business with three drive-through lanes on the property at 2450 W. Algonquin Road, per the findings and with the five conditions noted in the staff report dated April 15, 2024. Commissioner Dixon seconded the motion. On a roll call vote, Commissioners Siakel, Walker, Murphy, Bolton, Dixon, and Esposito voted Aye. No Nays. Motion to approve passed 6-0.

Old Business

None

Item for Discussion

None



Staff Report

Director Svalenka reported that the Village Board was presented with the petitions for the new Starbucks at 4501 West Algonquin Road and Dorner Jewelers at 9239 South Illinois Route 31, and both were approved. He also stated that the open house for the Village's comprehensive plan is scheduled for Thursday, April 18, 2024 from 6-8 p.m. Director Svalenka spoke about the plan to store the Village's veteran's memorial during the new police department construction and its new location after construction is complete. In response to Commissioner Walker's request, Director Svalenka spoke about the proposed roundabout at Miller and Lakewood Roads. Since this is a McHenry County Department of Transportation project, Director Svalenka indicated that he would send an informational link to the Commission members that has a lot more detail.

Trustee Liaison

Trustee Dustin spoke more regarding the roundabouts and past traffic light studies at Reed and Lakewood Roads and Lakewood and Miller Roads.

Adjournment

A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Commissioner Siakel and seconded by Commissioner Walker. The motion was approved on a voice vote of 6-0.

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting of the Lake in the Hills Planning & Zoning Commission was adjourned at 8:09 p.m. The next Planning and Zoning Commission meeting is scheduled for May 13, 2024.

Submitted by,

Laura Carpenter
Recording Secretary

Dama Carperter